
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Thursday 12 March 2020 at 6.00 pm 

 
 

Civic Suite 
 

 

 Please note there will be a Pre-Board meeting for 
Board Members from 16:45 – 17:15, followed by 

Committee meals.  
 

 
Children’s Services, Education & 

Skills Scrutiny Board 

Public Document Pack



Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do? 

 

 (a) You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of 
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council. 

(b)  When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must: 

 Declare the interest if you have not already registered it 

 Not participate in any discussion or vote 

 Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with 

 Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting 

(c) If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your 
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest 
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for 
another person or body to deal with the matter. 

 

Disclosable Interest 

 

Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you 
or your partner. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses. 

Contracts Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or 
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you 
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income. 

Licences Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the Council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or 
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities 
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where— 
 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
Council; and 
(b) either— 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or 
 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class. 

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society. 



 
  

SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN  
BOROUGH COUNCIL 



 
To: 
Councillors A Adeyemo, S Ashraf MBE, 
K Blunt (Vice-Chairman), M Brain, J Butler, 
M Gough (Chairman), J Hamilton, R Holt, 
A Mackenzie, L McCarthy, A Rebeiro, 
P Thomas, Mrs K Wild, Mrs J Hildreth, 
Mrs E Clark, Mr B Hall and S Wood 
 

 
NICK PAGE 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
Council House, Manor Square 
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB 
Tel. 0121-704 6000  
 
Joseph Bright 
Tel: 0121 704 6055 
Email: jbright@solihull.gov.uk 
 
Date 4 March 2020 
 

 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 

Thursday 12 March 2020 
 

AGENDA 
 

1.  APOLOGIES  
 

To receive any apologies. 
 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY OR CONFLICTING INTERESTS FROM 
MEMBERS  
 

To receive declarations of interest from Members in accordance with the Code 
of Conduct (Members are directed to the guidance attached.) 
 

3.  QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS  
 

To deal with any questions or deputations received. 
 

4.  MINUTES (Pages 5 - 10) 
 

To receive the minutes of the meeting held on 13th January 2020. 
 

5.  UPDATE ON MULTI-AGENCY SAFEGUARDING ARRANGEMENTS (Pages 
11 - 16) 
 

To provide an update on progress since the introduction of the new multi-agency 
safeguarding arrangements in May 2019 and the findings of the LGA Peer 
Review undertaken in October 2019. 
 

6.  OFSTED ACTION PLAN: INSPECTION OF LOCAL AUTHORITY 
CHILDREN'S SERVICES (Pages 17 - 36) 



 

To update members about the outcome of the recent Ofsted inspection of 
Solihull MBC’s services for children in need of help and protection, children in 
care and care leavers and to set out the plans to address the areas for 
improvement identified in the inspection report. 
 

7.  SCHOOL PERFORMANCE AND PROGRESS OF VULNERABLE GROUPS 

(Pages 37 - 48) 
 

This report provides members with information, based on validated Department 
for Education (DfE) data, about the 2019 performance outcomes for schools in 
Solihull 
 



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 13 

January 2020 
 

 

 

 

MINUTES 

 
 
Present: Councillors: A Adeyemo, S Ashraf MBE, K Blunt (Vice-Chairman), 

M Brain, J Butler, M Gough (Chairman), J Hamilton, R Holt, 
A Mackenzie, L McCarthy, A Rebeiro and P Thomas. Co-opted 
Members: Mrs J Hildreth and Mr B Hall. 
 

Officers: Louise Rees - Director of Children's Services and Skills 
Stuart McHale - Children’s Services and Skills Finance Manager 
Julie Hackett - Head of Service – Commissioning for Children & Young 
People  
Joseph Bright – Democratic Services Officer 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
 
Councillor Mrs Wild submitted her apologies. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY OR CONFLICTING INTERESTS FROM 
MEMBERS  
 
Mrs Hildreth made a declaration of interest as a Governor of St George and St 
Theresa’s School. 
 

3. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS  
 
Mrs Middleton made a deputation on behalf of the Whitefields Action Group 
(WAG) regarding the proposal to expand St Augustine’s Catholic Primary 
School. She raised a number of concerns and view points on behalf of WAG, 
which in summary included the following: 

 Concerns were raised regarding the decisions made by the Cabinet 

Member for Children, Education and Skills, in respect of the proposal for 

St Augustine’s School, at his decision sessions on 23rd May and 25th 

September 2019. Mrs Middleton believed that a number of key points 

had been omitted and raised concerns regarding the engagement of the 

Catholic diocese. 

 If the proposal was approved it would lead to breaches of the Councils 

other responsibilities, such as managing finance and resources 

effectively. 

 The number of School places should increase where there are new 

housing sites and should not put pressure on infrastructure. 

 It was felt the proposal was contrary to the Councils own policies, such 

as the Council’s transport plan and the Clean Air Strategy. 

 The Council should consider the required number of educational 

establishments only after publishing its Local Plan. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 13 

January 2020 
 

 

 

 

 That there had been flaws in the decision making process and it was 

requested for the Scrutiny Board to scrutinise the original decision. 

 
Following the deputation, Councillor Gough responded: 

 The Scrutiny Board had no decision making powers – this rested with 

the Executive, the Cabinet Member for Children, Education and Skills.  

 There was no formal item on the agenda regarding the proposals for St 

Augustine’s School. 

 The points raised in the deputation would be forwarded to the Cabinet 

Member, who was looking at the proposals to expand the School on 

educational grounds – however, it was emphasised it was for the 

Council’s Planning Committee to consider issues around traffic 

congestion, parking and air pollution, when they looked at the expansion 

of the building on the School site. 

 
Members agreed for School place planning to be considered as part of their 
future work programme. 
 

4. MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the Scrutiny Board meeting held on 5th November 2019 were 
presented. 
 
 RESOLVED 

The minutes of the meeting held on 5th November 2019 were approved 
as a correct record. 

 
5. BUDGET FRAMEWORK 2020/21 – 2022/23  

 
The Children’s Services and Skills Finance Manager presented the report to the 
Board. Members were requested to give specific consideration to the budget  
saving proposals identified for 2020/21 to 2022/23 within the Children, 
Education and Skills Cabinet Portfolio, to go forward to the Resources and 
Delivering Value Scrutiny Board in January and the Full Cabinet in February. 
 
The Children’s Services Finance and Skills Manager detailed the work 
undertaken by the Budget Strategy Group – he explained how this Group had 
considered pressures within this portfolio and supported recommendations for 
the following allocations from the budget strategy reserve: 

 £1.2m to support the recovery plan for the High Needs Block of the 
Dedicated School Grant; 

 £1.5m to top up the children’s social care reserve in 2020/21. 
 
It was also noted the Budget Strategy Group had agreed not to seek any new 
savings from children’s social care for the 2022/23 budget . 
 

Page 6



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 13 

January 2020 
 

 

 

 

In considering the report Members raised a number of queries and 
observations, which in summary included: 

 Members welcomed the £1.5m to top up for  the children’s social care 
reserve in 2020/21 – they queried what measures would be undertaken 
beyond this point to help manage pressures and demand. The Children’s 
Services Finance and Skills Manager explained the preventative work 
being undertaken, highlighting the Connected Carers Pilot as an 
example. He detailed how they were looking at building their own 
fostering capacity and reducing dependency on higher cost placements. 

 Members requested clarification regarding the on-going work to ensure 
support for unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC). The 
Children’s Services and Skills Finance Manager detailed how changes to 
the Under 18 funding regime for USAC from the Home Office had 
resulted in a increase in grant. He detailed how there was still the on-
going issue of funding for over 18 USAC, which was currently insufficient 
to cover costs – he confirmed the Director of Resources and Deputy 
Chief Executive continued to engage the Home Office on this. 

 Members queried the on-going work to support the recovery plan for the 
High Needs Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant.  The Director of 
Children’s Services and Skills detailed a meeting held between herself, 
the Chair of the Schools Forum, the Chair of the Governors and the 
Chair of the Schools Strategic Accountability Board, to establish a 
collaborative approach going forward. She also explained how they were 
setting up a Head teachers reference group, facilitated by a SEND 
specialist, to also seek their input on the recovery plan. 

 Members questioned the early year provider rate for nurseries and 
expressed concerns this appeared to be low compared to other Local 
Authorities (LA). The Children’s Services and Skills Finance Manager 
explained how early years formed part of the Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG), which was ring-fenced and didn’t form part of the budget 
proposals detailed in the report. He emphasised how the comparatively 
lower rate reflected that we were a low funded LA. Following a query 
from Members, the Children’s Services Finance Manager confirmed 
there was on-going lobbying of  Central Government in regards to 
funding – he highlighted recent representations made in respect of 0 to 
25 SEND pressures and schools budgets. 

 A Member flagged up demand pressures in regards to 0 to 25 SEND, 
especially the (Education, Health and Care Plans) EHCP process. They 
highlighted instances where families may challenge the LA’s decisions 
and questioned the potential tribunal costs. The Children’s Services and 
Skills Finance Manager explained how LA’s nationally had experienced 
significant increases in demand, following the introduction of new 
legislation and the EHCP process. He emphasised how a significant 
proportion of tribunal costs was officer time – he explained how, for both 
the current and previous year, the MTFS had identified additional 
funding to continue to build SEND capacity and support. A Member 
requested the volume of tribunal cases for the current and previous 

Page 7



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 13 

January 2020 
 

 

 

 

financial year. The Director of Children’s Services and Skills confirmed 
she would ensure this information was circulated to Members. 

 
RESOLVED 

The Children, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board: 
(i) Noted the pressures and mitigating actions set out in Appendix A.  
(ii) Noted the budget proposals outlined in the report. 
(iii) Noted the schedule of fees and charges proposed for 2020/21, as 

attached at Appendix B. 
(iv) Endorsed the on-going work of the Cabinet Member for Children, 

Education and Skills in lobbying Central Government for fairer 
funding for Solihull. 

 
6. SOLIHULL LOCAL TRANSFORMATION OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG 

PEOPLES EMOTIONAL WELLBEING AND MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES  
 
The Head of Service for Commissioning for Children and Young People 
presented the report, providing a progress update regarding the local 
transformation of emotional wellbeing and mental health services for children 
and young people in Solihull. It was also noted the report provided updates on 
a number of areas the Board had raised when they previously considered 
Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Services for Children and Young 
People: 

 Mental Health Information 

 Support for Parents 

 Support for Primary Schools 

 School Nurses 

 
Members raised a number of queries and observation, summarised as follows: 

 Members welcomed how young people, members of the Youth Council 

and OVOS (our Children in Care Council) worked together to hold a 

conference focusing on the mental health of children and young people 

in Solihull. They queried the next steps and whether there were plans to 

hold similar events again. 

 The Head of Service for Commissioning for Children and Young People 

explained how a young person on the Local Transformation Board had 

recently written out to Schools that attended, to seek updates on the 

progress made since the conference. The Local Transformation board 

had also initially considered holding a future conference to coincide with 

World Mental Health Day, with a focus upon transitions and the 14-25 

age group. 

 Members requested confirmation the views of children and young people 

as service users were taken into account. The Head of Service 

confirmed they did focus on co-design and delivery of services and 

detailed how Solar held forums for young people. It was also explained 

Page 8



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 13 

January 2020 
 

 

 

 

how funding had been agreed for Solar to appoint a young person as an 

apprentice, a peer support worker. She also emphasised that, as part of 

the work to develop an integrated service model for Birmingham and 

Solihull, it was critical to ensure the involvement of children and young 

people. The roles of OVOS and the Youth Council were also highlighted. 

 A Member highlighted cases where people may require hospital 

treatment and received support a significant distance out of the Borough. 

The Member queried the work being undertaken to reduce this. The 

Head of Services explained that NHS England had conducted a review 

of all hospital beds across the country for mental health support, to 

ensure the correct levels of provision. It was emphasised this had 

resulted in a greater level of provision overall. 

 A Member raised the total referrals to Solar by referral source. They 

queried the volume of referrals from School Nurses and the Local 

Authority Social Services appeared low, compared to the level from GPs. 

The Head of Service detailed how there may still be the perception there 

was a requirement for a referral from a GP in order to receive support – 

she emphasised there was on-going work to change this perception. The 

Head of Service also explained that, for low-level interventions School 

Nurses could provide support themselves.  

 A Member flagged up how the School Nursing team completed health 

questionnaires at school entry and Year 6. They questioned the reasons 

why there may not be full take-up of these questionnaires by the Schools 

and queried how take-up rates could be improved. The Head of Service 

explained these questionnaires were relatively new and take-up rates 

had improved this year. It was agreed for the latest take-up statistics and 

a copy of the questionnaires to be circulated to the Scrutiny Board. The 

Head of Service also flagged up the trailblazer funding secured by the 

Council and BSol CCG, to develop two initial mental health support 

teams that will work with a range of local Schools in North Solihull. 

 Members queried the support for care experienced young people, up to 

the age of 25. The Head of Service detailed the feedback they received 

from young people – that they’re not able to access mental health 

services the way they want to. This was being focused upon as part of 

the development of the 0-25 model across Birmingham and Solihull. The 

Head of Service also detailed how they were exploring the potential for 

care experienced young people to have personal health budgets to help 

support their mental health needs.  

 
RESOLVED 
The Children’s Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board: 

Page 9



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 13 

January 2020 
 

 

 

 

(i) Noted the progress made in delivering local transformation of 

emotional wellbeing and mental health services for children and 

young people in Solihull.  

(ii) Agreed to receive an update on the future planning for the future 

‘You in Mind’ conference, focusing on the mental health of 

children and young people in Solihull. 

(iii) Agreed to receive an update on the work to develop a model for 

mental health services for children, young people and young 

adults, from 0 – 25 years, across Birmingham and Solihull, that 

responded to differential needs of place. 

(iv) Agreed to receive an update on the findings stemming from the 

trailblazer funded mental health support teams that would be 

working with a range of schools in North Solihull. 

 
 
 

End time of meeting 7.55 pm 

Page 10



 

 
 

Meeting date: 12th March 2020 

 

Report to: Children’s Services, Education and Skills 
Scrutiny Board 

Subject/report 
title: 

Update on Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements 

Report from: David Peplow, Independent Scrutineer 

Solihull Local Safeguarding Children Partnership 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

Susan Haddon,  

Business Manager 

Solihull Local Safeguarding Children Partnership 
 
Wards affected:  

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph: 

N/A 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To provide an update on progress since the introduction of the new multi-agency 
safeguarding arrangements in May 2019 and the findings of the LGA Peer Review 
undertaken in October 2019  

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 It is recommended that the CSESSB: 

           (i)       Notes the update on progress since the introduction of the new multi-agency    
safeguarding arrangements and the findings of the LGA Peer Review; and 

(ii)      Considers how it wishes to undertake future scrutiny of the new multi-agency 
safeguarding children arrangements in Solihull. 

 

3. Matters for Consideration 

3.1     The Children and Social Work Act 2017 removed the statutory requirement for areas to 
have Local Safeguarding Children Boards and replaced them with a requirement for 
the three Safeguarding Partners (local authority, chief officer for police and the local 
clinical commissioning group for the area) to make arrangements to safeguard 
children and promote their welfare within their local area. They were to fulfil this 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



 

 
 

function by working with other named ‘relevant’ agencies, all of whom would have a 
duty to co-operate.  Solihull was one of a small number of areas across England who 
worked with the Department for Education as an ‘early adopter’.  Solihull published 
and started to implement its new arrangements on 1st May 2019, well ahead of the 
date set by the DfE, and these are located at: 
https://solihulllscp.co.uk/media/upload/fck/file/1__Solihull_-_New_Arrangements.PDF 

3.2      Since May 2019 the meeting schedule for the LSCP Executive Group, the Assurance 
and Review Group and the Response and Delivery Group has been adhered to with 
good levels of engagement by partner agencies.  Processes for managing agendas 
and direct reporting are being refined as the new governance arrangements bed in. 

3.3     As part of the early adopter programme Solihull worked with the Local Government 
Association (LGA) to develop a new peer challenge process. It was recognised that 
the previous LGA offer was no longer relevant and Ofsted were no longer reviewing 
safeguarding arrangements alongside the inspection of Children’s Services.  In 
October 2019 the LGA piloted the new offer and completed a peer review of Solihull’s 
new arrangements. The purpose of this peer challenge was to provide an early 
assessment of the new arrangements to identify further opportunities to strengthen 
these so that an effective model of multi-agency working could be embedded to 
safeguard children.  The published report is available at:  
https://solihulllscp.co.uk/media/upload/fck/SolihullLSCPPeerChallenge.pdf 

3.4     The peer reviewers identified a number of strengths in the Solihull LSCP.  In particular 
they noted that engagement from all partners and at all levels is good. Many examples 
of this collaboration were highlighted, either through strategic decisions or frontline 
practice, providing a very strong platform on which to develop formal safeguarding 
children arrangements.  

3.5      Areas specifically identified for development include an urgent need to finalise a 
robust multi-agency performance framework which ensures the LSCP has a clear 
understanding of the key issues and strengths across the children’s safeguarding 
system.  

3.6      It was noted that there is a need for a stronger focus on how the LSCP evidences 
impact and outcomes and understands what difference has been made.  

3.7      Peer reviewers considered there is a need to simplify the explanation of the 
structures, particularly the diagram of the model, to ensure it is understood by partners 
(at both strategic and operational levels) 

3.8      It was noted that communication is key to making the new safeguarding partnership 
work and, following a review of governance, structures and processes, it was 
recommended that the LSCP invest time and resource to its communications to 
ensure there is an awareness and understanding of the role, priorities and impact of 
the Solihull Safeguarding Children Partnership.  

 
4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 

them? 

4.1 A number of recommendations were made by the peer reviewers and these have 
formed the basis of an Action Plan overseen by the Safeguarding Partners.  The 

Page 12

https://solihulllscp.co.uk/media/upload/fck/file/1__Solihull_-_New_Arrangements.PDF
https://solihulllscp.co.uk/media/upload/fck/SolihullLSCPPeerChallenge.pdf


 

 
 

following work streams are in progress: 

 Development of a multi-agency performance framework which helps identify key 

issues and strengths across the children’s safeguarding system, evidences impact 

and outcomes for CYP and helps the LSCP to understand what difference has been 

made by its activities 

 Review of LSCP structure and processes to ensure timely decision making and 
responsiveness to new and emergent needs  

 Review of the LSCP Terms of Reference to include how the LSCP will engage with 
relevant Partners (including mental health providers and Education rep) and the 
expectations of some key roles 

 Development of a Communications Plan which promotes awareness and 
understanding of the role, priorities and impact of the LSCP to practitioners, children 
and families and the wider public  

 Review and agreed the role of the Independent Scrutineer. 

 Clarify the LSCP budget 

 Provide an evidence-based rationale for determining LSCP priorities in 2020/21 and 
develop a project management approach to delivery against the agreed strategic 
priorities, to include assessment of impact and outcomes and how this will be reported 

 Embed the Voice of the Child across the work of the LSCP to provide evidence of 
impact of activity to support LSCP priorities and to inform the setting of priorities and 
new activity 

 Agree and embed Vision and Principles for the LSCP 

 Clarify who the LSCP is accountable to and how it engages with key strategic 
partnerships 

 Produce a clear map of the Health structures to support agencies’ understanding of 

the local Health economy 

4.2 The current LSCP strategic priorities are Neglect, Exploitation and Early Help.  The 
LSCP Executive agreed on 25 February 2020 that its strategic priorities for 2020/21 
will be children and young people at risk of Neglect and children and young people at 
risk of Exploitation.  It is recognised that effective Early Help is extremely important 
and a focus will be retained on early identification and intervention at lower levels 
when looking at the multi-agency response to Neglect and Exploitation, but it will not 
be a priority in its own right.  This is in recognition of the fact that progress has been 
made on the delivery of targeted Early Help through the re-structuring of children’s 
social care teams, and also that Ofsted identified Solihull’s Early Help offer as a 
strength in the recent inspection. Neglect remains important as it continues to 
represent the largest proportion of child protection plans (consistent with the national 
picture). A refresh of Solihull’s Neglect Strategy will inform the development work 

Page 13



 

 
 

required to ensure children receive a robust multi-agency response.  Exploitation 
remains a high priority as the focus nationally moves from Child Sexual Exploitation 
(CSE) specifically, to different forms of exploitation, including Criminal Exploitation and 
County Lines.  In Solihull much work is being undertaken, both strategically and 
operationally, to develop multi-agency systems and processes to ensure children and 
young people (including young adults) are identified as being at risk of exploitation 
and protected, and offenders are pursued.  The LSCP, along with other partnership 
boards, will have a particular role in supporting the launch of the Solihull All-Age 
Exploitation Strategy and the embedding of pathways and tools to underpin the multi-
agency response on the frontline.  

4.3 Having considered the options, there is to be established a new group, reporting 
directly to the Safeguarding Partners, which will fulfil the statutory function of 
completing Rapid Reviews following Serious Incident Notifications, and making 
recommendations about the commissioning of Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews. 
This will provide a more responsive system and support timely decision making where 
tight statutory time scales exist.  Governance and revised Terms of Reference for the 
LSCP will reflect this change. 

4.4 Opportunities for joint working with the Solihull Safeguarding Adults Board are being 
explored to ensure that aspects of safeguarding practice impacting on young adults 
are robust, such as in the area of transition from children’s to adult services.  This is 
particularly pertinent in the work being developed to respond to various forms of 
Exploitation. 

4.5 Further work is required to confirm the LSCP budget going forward, with discussions 
currently taking place with relevant partner agencies about their respective annual 
contributions.  It is pleasing to note that the Police contribution will increase by 1% in 
2020/21. It is important that the appropriate resourcing is in place to support the 
activities recommended by the LGA Peer Review. 

4.6 A revised version of the Solihull multi-agency safeguarding arrangements will be 
published when the above work has been completed. 

4.7 There is a national review of the new arrangements being conducted by Sir Alan 
Wood (the architect of the original review that led to the legislative changes). It was 
agreed by the LSCP executive that Solihull would notify the review of the pilot work 
that was carried out with the LSCP as part of Solihull’s scrutiny of the arrangements. 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 The changes being made to LSCP structures and processes are in response to the 
findings of the LGA Peer Review and also to feedback received from partner agencies 
about their experiences of the new model.  It is likely to take a further year to fully 
embed the new arrangements, after which it will be possible to review their 
effectiveness in terms of outcomes for children and young people.   

Page 14



 

 
 

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 How the proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of Council Plan priorities: 

Priority: Contribution: 

Securing inclusive economic growth.  N/A 

Planning & delivery for Solihull’s low 
carbon future (to include biodiversity 
implications). 

N/A 

Managing demand and expectation 
for public services.  

The LSCP will be seeking assurance that 
thresholds for services are understood across the 
Partnership, and that the right children are 
receiving the right services at the right time.  

Developing our approach to services 
for adults and children with complex 
needs.  

The LSCP will be seeking assurance that the 
needs of children and young people with complex 
needs are considered and appropriately 
responded to when there are safeguarding 
concerns. 

Making the best use of our people 
and physical assets. 

The LSCP will be seeking assurance that the 
multi-agency workforce has the necessary skills 
and knowledge to respond to children at risk of 
Neglect and Exploitation. 

6.2 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.2.1 These arrangements have been subject of extensive consultation with all partner 
members of the current Solihull Local Safeguarding Children Board, and the original 
concept for them was developed at an event attended by representatives from all 
partner agencies represented on the then Solihull LSCB.  

6.2.2 The Independent Scrutineer role provides ongoing challenge to the Safeguarding 
Partners about process and outcomes.   

6.3 Financial implications: 

6.3.1 Funding for the Partnership is referenced in s11 of the proposed arrangements, which 
are available on the LSCP website (link provided in paragraph 3.1 above). SMBC’s 
contribution is budgeted for within the Children’s Services and Skills portfolio.  As 
noted in paragraph 4.5 above further work is being undertaken to confirm the LSCP 
budget going forward. 

6.4 Legal implications: 

6.4.1 The new multi-agency safeguarding children arrangements in Solihull are fully 
compliant with the Children and Social Work Act 2017 and the statutory guidance 
‘Working Together to Safeguard Children – July 2018’. 

Page 15



 

 
 

6.5 Risk implications: 

6.5.1 Safeguarding children is everyone’s responsibility, and effective multi-agency 
safeguarding arrangements rely upon the active involvement of all agencies in those 
arrangements. The implications of these arrangements not being effective are that the 
efficiency and effectiveness of children’s safeguarding in Solihull will be undermined.  
It is therefore important that partner agencies fully understand the multi-agency 
arrangements and the part they play in delivering a robust response to children and 
families. 

6.6 Equality implications: 

6.6.1 The new multi-agency safeguarding arrangements allow the flexibility to respond to 
emerging risks to particular groups and communities should the need be identified.  

6.6.2 Within the arrangements, all partner agencies retain their own responsibility to   
discharge their duties in line with the Public Sector Equality Duty. 

6.6.3  

7. List of appendices referred to 

7.1 https://solihulllscp.co.uk/media/upload/fck/file/1__Solihull_-_New_Arrangements.PDF 

7.2      https://solihulllscp.co.uk/media/upload/fck/SolihullLSCPPeerChallenge.pdf 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 None 

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 Working Together to Safeguard Children, 2018 

Page 16

https://solihulllscp.co.uk/media/upload/fck/file/1__Solihull_-_New_Arrangements.PDF
https://solihulllscp.co.uk/media/upload/fck/SolihullLSCPPeerChallenge.pdf


 

 
 

Meeting date: 12 March 2020 

 

Report to: Children, Education and Skills Scrutiny 
Board 

Subject/report 
title: 

Ofsted Action Plan: Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services 

Report from: Director of Children’s Services and Skills 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

Louise Rees – Director of Children’s Services and Skills 

Louise.rees@solihull.gov.uk   

 
 

 
Wards affected:  

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph: 

Select an Exemption paragraph from the Quick Parts drop-down list 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To update members about outcome of the recent Ofsted inspection of Solihull MBC’s 
services for children in need of help and protection, children in care and care leavers 
and to set out the plans to address the areas for improvement identified in the 
inspection report.  

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 To note the outcome of the recent inspection under the new Ofsted framework: 
Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS). 

2.2 To receive the draft Action Plan in response to the areas for improvement identified by 
inspectors. 

2.3 To comment on the proposed actions and offer any advice and guidance to officers. 

3. Matters for Consideration 

 

3.1 Under the new ILACS framework, councils receive a full inspection in the period six 
months before, or six months after, the three year anniversary of the publication of 
their previous full inspection.  Solihull was notified of its full ILACS inspection on 4 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Louise.rees@solihull.gov.uk


 

 
 

November 2019 and then had to submit a very large and complex data set and over 
50 other documents to the inspectors within the following two days.  Inspectors then 
arrived on site on 11 November for two weeks of intensive activity based on 
reviewing children’s case files with social workers and family support workers and 
sampling many more files themselves.  Unlike the previous inspection regime, 
partners, stakeholders and staff focus groups are not part of the ILACS inspection 
process and there is no longer an inspection of our Local Safeguarding Partnership 
arrangements. 

3.2 During the inspection, the Lead Inspector and one of his team met with the DCS, the 
Assistant Director for Children, Young People and Families and our lead officer 
every day to report on the previous days’ findings, make requests for further 
information and evidence and outline plans for the coming day. The two weeks are 
extremely intensive and pressured and it should be remembered that social workers 
throughout are focusing on their key role of safeguarding children and improving 
outcomes; the day job continues despite the demands of the inspection.  All staff 
responded magnificently and were keen to demonstrate their good practice to 
inspectors.   

3.3 Inspectors also met with three groups of children and young people (younger 
children in care, care experienced young people and unaccompanied asylum 
seeking young people) and carried out telephone interviews with foster carers, 
adopters, the judiciary and the Children and Families Court Advisory and Support 
Service (CAFCASS).  They also spoke to the Chief Executive and the Lead Member 
by telephone before the start of the inspection. Across the council, excellent support 
was provided from a wide range of colleagues including building management, IT, 
performance teams, communications and others which helped the inspection run 
smoothly and was much appreciated, as were the many messages of support 
throughout from members, Corporate Leadership Team and partners. 

3.4 The council received four separate, graded judgements in its ILACS standard 
inspection report, which was published on 9 January 2020.  The four possible 
gradings which apply to each judgement area, are outstanding, good, requires 
improvement to be good and inadequate.  The outcome for Solihull Children’s 
Services was as follows: 

 Experiences and progress of children in need of help and protection (this 
covers the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub or MASH, assessments, children in 
need and children with disabilities, children and young people at risk of 
exploitation, child protection and court teams): Requires Improvement 

 Experiences and progress of children in care and care leavers (this covers our 
Looked After Children’s teams, fostering service, adoption and the 16+ and 
asylum seeking team: Good 

 The impact of leaders on social work practice with children and families: 
Requires Improvement 

 Overall effectiveness: Requires Improvement. 

 

Page 18



 

 
 

3.5 The inspection report commented on many strengths and positive aspects of 
Children’s Services in Solihull, including: 

3.6 Children in Need of Help and Protection 

• An effective, single front door with MASH decision making largely effective. 

• Early Help is “a strength” and makes a positive difference. 

• Most children are seen quickly and assessments are thorough and timely. 

• Child in Need reviews / Child Protection conferences / Core Groups are timely and 
well attended – young people encouraged / supported to attend 

• Pre-proceedings bring about positive changes. 

• Largely stable workforce means children benefit from trusting, positive 
relationships. 

• Skilful direct work: family support workers are a valuable resource. 

• Missing children and those at risk of exploitation are well tracked.  Schools 
recognise and report concerns. 

• Very clear oversight of Elective Home Education and children missing education – 
no safeguarding concerns found. 

• Designated officer (LADO) responds effectively to allegations. 

3.7 Children in Care and Care Leavers 

• Decisions are timely and taken in children’s best interests. The vast majority have 
good outcomes. 

• Children are seen regularly, social workers know them well and ensure placements 
match needs. 

• All children have care plans and reviews are timely.  Contact is well supported. 

• Family Support Workers are highly trained and experienced in delivering direct 
work and specialist life story work. 

• Children and young people helped to understand their medical history. 

• Children in care have appropriate education provision, updated Personal 
Education Plans and perform above national averages. 

• OVOS members are enthusiastic and active and can demonstrate skills they have 
learned.  

• There is an improving picture for the Fostering Service. 

• Permanence is considered early and tracked. 

Page 19



 

 
 

• The Fostering Panel is effective and offers strong scrutiny and appropriate 
challenge. 

• There is a positive and improving picture for Adoption with foundations in good CP 
and Court team work. 

• Adoption timeliness is good and improving, family finding is strong and there have 
been no recent disrupted placements. 

• We are in touch with nearly all our care leavers. 

• PAs and social workers are caring, competent and aspirational for their young 
people, showing “pushy parent” behaviour. 

• For UASC, we are “experts in the field”. 

• Accommodation suitability is good and well thought out. 

3.8 Impact of Leaders / Overall Effectiveness 

• Good outcomes for many children – none found at risk of harm. 

• Ambition and commitment of senior leaders / politicians to Children’s Services and 
for children. 

• Staff are valued and feel supported by managers. 

• Children and young people are listened to, their views inform plans. 

• Solihull has a good reputation with the courts and CAFCASS. 

• Well established partnership working. 

• Use of agency workers has reduced. 

• Caseloads are manageable. 

• Positive feedback from parents and children and any concerns inform learning. 

• Corporate parenting has been strengthened and OVOS is now better supported to 
ensure young people’s voices are heard. 

3.9  Areas for Improvement 

In the final inspection report, Ofsted identified the following ten areas that it believed 
needed to be addressed by the council: 

i. Quality assurance and audit arrangements to improve practice so that leaders are 
aware of strengths and weaknesses. 

ii. The timeliness of strategy meetings and inclusion of all relevant partners, including 
the police.  

Page 20



 

 
 

iii. The practice and impact of ‘threshold’ visits on children and families should be 
reviewed. 

iv. The offer and take up and analysis of return home interviews following episodes of 
going missing. 

v. The clarity of children in need and child protection plans so that parents and carers 
can more readily understand what is expected of them and why. 

vi. The timeliness of reviews of children in need of services at level 2 in the disabled 
children’s team. 

vii. Levels of awareness and access for connected carers to training opportunities that 
will enhance their skills in caring for children and in strengthening placements. 

viii. Timely progress in the making of special guardianship orders where these are set 
out as the plan for permanence. 

ix. Consideration of the need for homeless 16-and 17-year-olds to be cared for, and 
to be made aware of that option, by the local authority. 

x. The focus on and response to private fostering arrangements. 

3.10 Staff and the leadership team have been working to identify and begin to implement 
actions to address the ten areas for improvement.  These have been brought 
together in a draft action plan, which can be found at Appendix 1.  Work is continuing 
to refine and develop these actions before submission to Ofsted by 15 April 2020. 

3.11 Progress against the actions will be monitored through the Service and Departmental 
Leadership Teams and reported to Corporate Leadership Team, the Cabinet 
Member and to this Scrutiny Board on a regular basis.  Previous experience 
suggests there will be at least two visits from Ofsted to discuss and review progress 
in implementing the improvement actions. 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 The Ofsted ILACS inspection is part of a statutory regulatory framework for children’s 
services in which authorities must participate and there is a legal duty to respond to 
the findings of a Requires Improvement judgement.  The Scrutiny Board is asked to 
consider the outcome of the inspection and offer comment and advice to officers on 
the draft action plan at Appendix 1. 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 As outlined in section 4 above, there is a statutory requirement to respond to the 
ILACS inspection and to submit an action plan in response to the overall judgement of 
Requires Improvement.  

Page 21



 

 
 

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 How the proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of Council Plan priorities: 

Priority: Contribution: 

Securing inclusive economic growth.  Not directly applicable to this report. 

Planning & delivery for Solihull’s low 
carbon future (to include biodiversity 
implications). 

Not directly applicable to this report. 

Managing demand and expectation 
for public services.  

The inspection report identified early help as a 
strength.  Early help is a critical plank of our 
approach to seeking to prevent escalation into 
higher cost levels of statutory intervention in the 
lives of children and families. 

Developing our approach to services 
for adults and children with complex 
needs.  

The report identified many areas in which we are 
helping to bring about positive change to the lives 
of children in complex family situations. The action 
plan sets out how we will further improve our 
processes and our service offer to vulnerable 
children and young people 

Making the best use of our people 
and physical assets. 

Children’s social care staff told inspectors that 
they feel valued and supported by managers. 
Inspectors noted that the use of agency staff has 
reduced and that caseloads are manageable. 

 

6.2 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.2.1 The Ofsted report is a public document and is open to scrutiny and comment from 
elected members, partners and stakeholders.  Staff have been involved in discussing 
and contributing to the action plan. 

6.3 Financial implications: 

6.3.1 The financial cost of implementing the Action Plan will be covered from within the 
Directorate’s resources or from the MTFS as appropriate.  

6.4 Legal implications: 

6.4.1 The council is required to respond to the findings of ILACS inspections and to submit 
an action plan within 70 working days of the publication of the final report. 

Page 22



 

 
 

6.5 Risk implications: 

6.5.1 Risks identified with the failure to meet our statutory duties regarding children in need 
of help and protection and those in care and our care levers have long been identified 
in the council’s risk register and it is officers’ opinion that they are appropriately 
managed.  

6.6 Equality implications: 

6.6.1 There are no direct implications arising from this report.   

7. List of appendices referred to 

7.1 Appendix 1 – draft Action Plan 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 ILACS inspection framework 2018. 

8.2 Ofsted report on Solihull ILACS inspection (November 2019) published on 9 January 
2020. 

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 None 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Children’s Services 

Ofsted ILACS Action Plan 

March 2020  
(Inspection date 11th to 22nd November 2019) 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Page 25



Appendix 1 
 

2 
 

Introduction 

In November 2019, Ofsted carried out a comprehensive inspection of children’s 
social care services in Solihull. This was conducted under the framework for 
inspecting local authority services for children in need of help and protection.  
 
The overall judgement was that services in Solihull require improvement to be good. 
The individual service judgements were as follows. 
 

The impact of leaders on social work 
practice with children and families 

Requires improvement 

The experiences and progress of 
children who need help and 
protection 

Requires improvement 

The experiences and progress of 
children in care and care leavers 

Good 

Overall effectiveness Requires improvement 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

Page 26



Appendix 1 
 

3 
 

Section 1: Actions arising from Ofsted recommendations 

Ofsted recommendation 1 

 
Quality assurance and audit arrangements to improve practice so that leaders are aware of 
strengths and weaknesses 
 

  

Ref Action Who By when 

 Explore alternative audit process options  
(including evidencing impact of audit 
process – learning loop, and escalation 
processes) and incorporate themed 
Audits into QA processes. Launch new 
process. Guidance and reporting 
frameworks 
 

Head of 
Service 
Safeguards 

May 2020 

 Quality Assurance – review of process 
and accelerate escalation activity, 
inclusive of team and individual 
performance processes 

Head of 
Service 
Safeguards 

Completed 

 Review and refresh of existing case audit 
process 

Head of 
Service 
Safeguards 

Completed 

 Develop and revise data sets in children’s 
services 

Head of 
Service 
Safeguards 

July 2020 

 

Expected Outcomes What will success look like? What will be different? 

 Revised audit process in place and compliance levels good. 

 Learning from audits influence action plans to improve practice. 

 Escalation processes are activated in a timely way – to avoid drift and delay. 

 Analysis of data influences action plans to improve practice, team and individual 
performance. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



Appendix 1 
 

4 
 

Ofsted recommendation 2 

 
The timeliness of strategy meetings and inclusion of all relevant partners, including the 
Police 
 

 

Ref Action Who By when 

 Review all processes relevant to strategy 
meetings (including MACE).  This to 
include escalation procedure to ensure 
senior managers are notified of 
exceptions, along with the Safeguarding 
Partnership  
 

Head of 
Service  
Family 
Support   

April 2020 

 Review recent cases where delay in 
holding strategy meetings have been 
identified  
 

Head of 
Service 
Family 
Support   

April 2020 

 In cases where delay has been identified, 
revised West Midland Police escalation 
policy (Public Protection Unit) to be 
followed and senior managers to be 
notified 
 

Head of 
Service 
Family 
Support  

Completed 

 Ensure that all strategy discussions take 
place in a timely way – process to be 
drawn up to reflect expectations, 
implemented and monitored, with 
reporting through the senior leadership 
meetings 
 

Head of 
Service  
Family 
Support  

April 2020 

 Quality Assurance / Audit strategy 
monitoring discussion to ensure relevant 
practitioners have been involved in 
strategy discussion 
 

Head of 
Service  
Family 
Support  

April 2020 

 Ensure Family Support and Child 
Protection managers on duty attend 
Strategy meetings within MASH (Multi 
Agency Safeguarding Hub) – exception 
reporting 
 

Head of 
Service 
Family 
Support  

Completed 

 

Expected Outcomes What will success look like? What will be different? 

 MASH strategy discussions will be held in a timely way with all relevant professionals 
contributing to the decision making process.  Any exceptions will be escalated in a timely 
way, according to procedure. 

 All relevant information will be presented by our partner agencies and shared as part of the 
strategy discussion. 

 Increase effectiveness and timeliness of intervention.  

 Seamless transfer of responsibilities from MASH to the relevant Social Care team. 

 

Page 28



Appendix 1 
 

5 
 

 

Ofsted recommendation 3 

 
The practice and impact of ‘threshold’ visits on children and families are reviewed. 
 

 

Ref Action Who By when 

 Audit of threshold visits completed and 
report to be presented to senior managers  
 

Head of 
Service 
Family 
Support   

April 2020 

 Dip Sample Audit of threshold visit to 
review impact of Threshold visit on the 
timeliness of response and potential need 
for further intervention 
 

Head of 
Service  
Family 
Support  

Quarterly 
from July 
2020 

 

Expected Outcomes What will success look like? What will be different? 

 All children and families will have received a timely and proportionate response to identified 
needs and concerns. 

 The Local Authority will continue to have a good understanding of the purpose and impact of 
threshold visits on the decision making process. 

 The Local Authority will be satisfied that the use of threshold visits continues to be justified and 
proportionate and not contributing to delayed intervention to children and families 

 Children and families will only be subject to an assessment if they need to be. 

 

 

  

Page 29



Appendix 1 
 

6 
 

Ofsted recommendation 4 

 
The offer and take up and analysis of return home interviews following episodes of going 
missing. 
 

 

Ref Action Who By when 

 Review of current specification to ensure it 
clearly reflects the service requirements 
and the increased knowledge and 
information around criminal and sexual 
exploitation as well as social work 
processes. 

Head of 
Service  
Children’s 
Commissioning 

Completed 

 Review and streamline internal processes 
for managing missing including notifying 
provider 
 
Including explore potential of Liquid Logic 
to support more effective and efficient 
communication with the provider regarding 
missing episodes 

Head of 
Service 
Safeguards 
 
Principal Child 
and Family 
Social Worker 
 

Completed 
 
 
 
To be 
agreed post 
go live date 
(2nd March 
2020) 

 Work collaboratively with the provider to 
develop more innovative and creative ways 
to engage with young people to increase 
the uptake of missing interviews    

Heads of 
Services 
Safeguards 
and Children’s 
Commissioning 

Commenced 
– for monthly 
review of 
progress 

 Seek feedback from young people who 
have experienced the service to identify 
where practice can be improved 

Missing and 
Exploitation 
Team 
Manager, 
supported by 
the 
Commissioning 
Officer 

July 2020 

 Monthly contract monitoring to ensure 
compliance with service specification and 
improved performance, once established 
this may become quarterly 

Head of 
Service 
Children’s 
Commissioning 

Commenced 

 Monthly review of cumulative data reports 
to inform detailed analysis of missing 
episodes to further develop targeted 
support, especially for those young people 
who have repeated missing episodes, 
shared with the commissioner 

Missing and 
Exploitation 
Team Manager 
with the 
Provider 

Commenced 

 Identify external placement providers where 
missing episodes are more prevalent, QA 
visit to ensure provider has appropriate 
procedures in place and is following the 
Solihull process and actions in place to 
prevent repeat missing episodes 

Head of 
Service 
Children’s 
Commissioning 

March 2020 

 

  

Page 30



Appendix 1 
 

7 
 

Expected Outcomes What will success look like? What will be different? 

 More timely referrals to provider to enable increased likelihood of interviews taking place within 
72 hours.   

 Children and young people who go missing will be engaged with and have a return home 
interview where they can share concerns and issues and be supported with strategies to 
prevent further missing episodes, as well as identify safeguarding issues including exploitation. 

 Social workers receive a report of issues and recommendations identified at the interview to 
support their ongoing care planning with the individual young person 

 An improved and shared understanding based on data analysis that informs practice 
development and enables effective targeted support to be provided for the young person. 

 An increased proportion of children and young people who go missing will have a return home 
interview (initial target is a 55% conversion from referral to interview). 

 

 

Ofsted recommendation 5 

 
The clarity of children in need and child protection plans so that parents and carers can 
more readily understand what is expected of them and why. 
 

 

Ref Action Who By when 

 Ensure that all CIN/CP plans are written in a 
way that is easily understood by parents.   
 
This will be audited through seeking service 
user feedback 

Head of 
Service 
Safeguards 
and Family 
Support 
 

Completed 
 
 
July 2020 

 Implement revised Signs of Safety guidance 
into Liquid Logic 

Head of 
Service 
Safeguards 
and Principal 
Child and 
Family Social 
Worker 

Completed 

 Practice workshops with relevant 
professionals to develop practice  

Head of 
Service 
Safeguards 
and Principal 
Child and 
Family 
Support 
Worker 

April 2020 

 Audits of Child in Need and Child Protection 
Plans will be built into our revised audit 
processes, inclusive of parent and carers 
feedback   

Head of 
Service 
Safeguards  

March 2020 

 

Expected Outcomes What will success look like? What will be different? 

 All plans will be written to ensure that they are easily understood by parents and carers, to 
ensure they are fully aware of what is required of them. 

 Engagement with parents and carers is enhanced, to improve outcomes for children. 

Page 31



Appendix 1 
 

8 
 

Ofsted recommendation 6 

 
The timeliness of reviews of children in need of services at level 2 in the disabled children’s 
team 
 

 

Ref Action Who By when 

 Review processes and capacity of team Head of 
Service 
Safeguards 

June 2020 

 Implement plan to review existing Level 2 
cohort to ensure needs continue to be met 

Head of 
Service 
Safeguards 

June 2020 

 Training and development as well as 
through team and individual supervision 
embed the Family Support Model to support 
the delivery of services to children with 
disabilities  

Head of 
Service 
Safeguards 
and Principal 
Child and 
Family Social 
Worker 

June 2020 

 Implement finalised threshold document Head of 
Service 
Safeguards 
and Principal 
Child and 
Family Social 
Worker 

June 2020 

 

Expected Outcomes What will success look like? What will be different? 

 All children supported at Level 2 (ie without the need for Family support or Social Work 
intervention) have their needs reviewed on at least an annual basis to ensure support 
continues to be appropriate. 

 Backlog of reviews is cleared. 

 

 

  

Page 32



Appendix 1 
 

9 
 

Ofsted recommendations 7 

 
Levels of awareness and access for connected carers to training opportunities that will 
enhance their skills in caring for children and in strengthening placements. 
 

 

Ref Action Who By when 

 Ensure clear communication with 
all connected carers of the existing 
offer 

Head of Service 
– Looked After 
Children 

All carers have 
been updated 
and this 
communication 
will be on-
going 

 Promote the existing opportunities 
for e learning model, and 
monitoring access and 
engagement 

Head of Service 
– Looked After 
Children 

Initial 
promotion 
complete.  To 
be repeated 
(see below) 

 Quality assurance and monitoring 
reports to senior managers to 
monitor access to and take up of 
training. 

Head of Service 
– Looked After 
Children 

June 2020 

 Develop a business case for 
further support and training in 
respect of other permanency 
options e.g. Special Guardianship 
Orders (SGO) 

Head of Service 
– Looked After 
Children 

April 2020 

 Triangulate direct feedback from 
carers through audit and quality 
assurance of the training offer to 
identify areas for development and 
barriers to access 

Head of Service 
– Looked After 
Children 

June 2020 

 

Expected Outcomes What will success look like? What will be different? 

 All carers have access to suitable and informative training dependent upon their 
requirements and other commitments.   

 Connected Carers and Mainstream Carers already have equal access, and take up rates 
will be increased. 

 All our carers would be highly trained and feel appropriately supported in caring for 
children. 

 Carers would feel supported to consider other permanency options (i.e. SGO) for children if 
appropriate. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



Appendix 1 
 

10 
 

 

Ofsted recommendation 8 

 
Timely progress in the making of special guardianship orders where these are set out as 
the plan for permanence. 
 

 

Ref Action Who By when 

 Review SGO financial policy 
 

Head of 
Service 
Looked After 
Children 

April 2020 

 Develop a business case for dedicated 
resource to facilitate/timely SGO 
arrangements 

Head of 
Service 
Looked After 
Children 

April 2020 

 Liaison with judiciary about pathways 
to support SGO process 

Heads of 
Service – 
Family 
Support and 
Looked After 
Children 

May 2020 

 Permanency planning to be considered 
throughout children services 
intervention including private law 
orders. Review and embed within our 
current process and procedures, 
through training and development, 
team and individual supervision 

Heads of 
Service – 
Safeguards, 
Family 
Support and 
Looked After 
Children 

June 2020 

 

Expected Outcomes What will success look like? What will be different? 

 All children who are currently looked after but who could be cared for appropriately without the 
need for statutory intervention, would have permanency with their current connected person or 
mainstream foster carers under a private law order.   

 Those carers would have access to training and support should they need this post order being 
made.  The carers would have access to continued financial support at the appropriate level. 

 

 

Page 34



Appendix 1 
 

11 
 

 

 

Ofsted recommendation 9 

 
Consideration of the need for homeless 16 and 17 year olds to be cared for, and to be made 
aware of that option, by the local authority. 
 

 

Ref Action Who By when 

 There is a pathway for young people to 
access independent support and advice 
when requiring / needing accommodation 
 

Head of 
Service Family 
Support and 
Head of 
Children’s 
Commissioning  

15th April 
2020 

 Develop an information pack to advise 
Young People of their right and benefit of 
being accommodated in the care of the 
Local Authority   
 

Head of 
Service Family 
Support  
 

15th April 
2020 

 Quality Assurance and review to ensure 
compliance and impact 
 

Head of 
Service Family 
Support 

April 2020 

 Review framework for support for 16-17 
years old with Solihull Housing Group 
 

Head of 
Service Family 
Support 

30th June 
2020 

 Evidence on file that all of the above has 
been completed  
 

Head of 
Service Family 
Support 

April 2020 

 

Expected Outcomes What will success look like? What will be different? 

 

 Young person will make an informed decision and understand the impact of their decision 

 Young person who does not chose or require to be accommodated in the care of the Local 
Authority will continue to receive the right support at the right time 

 Clear evidence on the children’s case file that all of the above has been considered and 
discussed with the YP and his/her family 

 
 

 

  

Page 35



Appendix 1 
 

12 
 

Ofsted recommendation 10 

 
The focus on and response to private fostering arrangements 
 

 

Ref Action Who By when 

 Awareness raising activity plan to be 
developed across all partners 

Head of 
Service 
Looked After 
Children 

Completed 

 A training and awareness raising 
programme across social care 

Head of 
Service 
Looked After 
Children 

May 2020 

 Quality assurance and reporting 
arrangements to LSCP to be 
implemented 

Heads of 
Service 
Looked After 
Children and 
Safeguards 

July 2020 

 Private fostering arrangements are 
identified at the front door and 
appropriate arrangements put in 
place.  Review and embed within our 
current process and procedures, 
through training and development, 
team and individual supervision 
 

Head of 
Service 
Family 
Support 

April 2020 

 

Expected Outcomes What will success look like? What will be different? 

 Solihull will have an increase in Private Fostering Arrangements that are known, assessed 
and supported appropriately.   

 All professionals in Solihull will be aware of Private Fostering and know how to report this 
to Children’s Services 

 

Page 36



 

 
 

Meeting date: 12 March 2020 

 

Report to: Children, Education and Skills Scrutiny 
Board 

Subject/report 
title: 

School Performance and Progress of Vulnerable Groups 

Report from: Louise Rees, Director of Children’s Services and Skills 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

Claire McNeill cmcneill@solihull.gov.uk    

 

 
Wards affected:  

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph: 

Select an Exemption paragraph from the Quick Parts drop-down list 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 This report provides members with information, based on validated Department for 
Education (DfE) data, about the 2019 performance outcomes for schools in Solihull     

                      

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 Members are asked to note the contents of the report and offer any advice and 
comments to officers. 

 

3. Matters for Consideration 

3.1 This section of the report provides performance data information in education setting / 
school year order from Early Years Foundation Stage Profile, through Key Stage 1 
(infants) to Key Stage 2 (end of primary) into Key Stage 4 (GCSEs) and Key Stage 5 
(A levels).  There is no longer formal national assessment at the end of Key Stage 3. 

 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

3.1 2019 Data Analysis 
 

 Early Years Foundation Stage Profile (EYFSP) –percentage of pupils making a 
good level of development has been maintained and remains above the national 
figure for 2019.  

 The inequality gap between the bottom 20% and the rest of the cohort had remained 
relatively stable both in Solihull and nationally until 2019.  Whilst national comparators 
figures are not yet available, the inequality gap in Solihull has increased.  Further work 
and analysis is underway to understand the factors behind this and closing this gap 
remains a priority.  

 

Foundation Stage  2016 2017 2018 2019 

% achieving 
Good Level 
Development 

Solihull 
(rank) 

72 72 
(53) 

72.7 
(55) 

72.6 

National 69.3 70.7 71.5 71.8 

Inequality 
gap between 
lowest 20% 
and the rest 

Solihull 
(rank) 

33.9 32.2 
(84) 

32.3 
(87) 

35.7 

National 31.4 31.7 31.8 Not 
available 

 
 

 Year One Phonics check - Solihull remains high performing and above the national 
figure.  

 

 National Solihull 

2017 81 85 

2018 82 86 

2019 82 85 

 
 

 

 

  

Page 38



 

 
 

Key Stage One.  

 Results in 2019 are static, but decreases have been seen at national level which then 
means a rise in rankings for our Local Authority.  

 Reading has improved this year and we are significantly above the national level in 
writing. 

 Solihull is above national level in all measures and significantly improved in the 
rankings in all three subjects.   

Solihull         
Reading 
(National) 

Expected 
Standard 

Greater depth  Writing Expected 
Standard 

Greater depth Maths Expected 
standard 

Greater 
depth 

2017  79 (75) 28 (25) 2017 70 (69) 18 (16) 2017 77 (76) 23 (21) 

2018 77 (75) 28 (26) 2018 72 (70) 19 (16) 2018 77 (76) 24 (22) 

2019 78 (75) 29 (25) 2019 72 (69) 20 (15) 2019 77 (76) 26 (22) 

         
 

 
Solihull  

 
Reading Writing Maths 

Key Stage 
1 

Year Expected 
Standard 

Greater 
Depth 

Expected 
Standard 

Greater 
Depth 

Expected 
Standard 

Higher 
Standard 

Ranking 

2017 19 31 52 31 44 37 

2018 43 32 41 25 50 40 

2019 26 21 28 13 42 17 

 
  

Page 39



 

 
 

Key Stage 2  
 

 Reading and Writing attainment remain the same as last year and above national.  

 Solihull has seen a five per cent increase in maths in 2019.  

 Results remain above the national average in all three subjects.  

 Solihull has significantly risen in the rankings particularly in reading and maths. The 
authority are now back in the upper quartile nationally. 

 
Attainment measures 

Solihull         

 

Reading 
 
(national) 

Expected  
Standard 

High 
Score 

Writing Expected 
Standard 

Greater 
depth 

Maths Expected 
Standard 

Greater 
Depth 

Combined 
Score 

R, W, M 

2017 75 (71) 28 (25) 2017 78 (76) 19 (18) 2017 78 (75) 26 (23) 

 
65 (61) 

2018 77 (75) 30 (28) 2018 80 (78) 22 (20) 2018 77 (76) 27 (24) 

 
66 (64) 

2019 77 (73) 31 (27) 2019 80 (78) 22 (20) 2019 82 (79) 32 (27) 

68 (65) 

         

 

 
  

 

Reading Writing Maths GPS 
Reading, 

Writing and 
Maths 

KS2 Year 100+ High 
Score 

EXS GDS 100+ High 
Score 

100+ High 
Score 

100+ High 
Score 

Ranking 

2017 
 28  24  41 47 44 37 42 54 26 35 

 
2018 

  45 35 40  41 65 32 51 60 47 39 

2019 
19 17 42 45 23 25 16 29 30 16 

 
Progress measures. 
 

 These measures have not changed significantly over the last 3 years.  

 There has been an improvement in writing in all three subjects in 2019. However we 
are still just below the national average. 

 
KS2 Year Reading Writing Maths 

Solihull 
(National) 

2017 -0.9 (0() -1.1 (0) -0.8 (0) 

2018 -1.0 (0) -0.9 (0) -0.9 (0) 

2019 -0.07 (0) -0.5 (0) -0.06 (0) 

 
 
 

Page 40



 

 
 

Key Stage 4  

 This is the second year of the new grading system.  

 Ranking in comparison to previous years is improving. This is similar to previous 
years.  

 Attainment 8 is marginally above national  

 The percentage of pupils who achieved a 9-4 pass is above national figures.  

 Progress 8 has improved significantly this year and is just below national levels, 
Solihull has improved to 75 in the rankings. 

 
End of Key Stage 
Four 

 
Attainment 8 

 

 
Progress 8 

 

Percentage of pupils 
who achieved a 9-4 

pass 

 
English 

Baccalaureate APS 

Solihull 2019 
Solihull 2018 
Solihull 2017 

47.6 -0.05 68.5 4.10 

47.1 -0.14 67.5 4.05 

47.1 -0.12 65.6 NA 

National 2019 
National 2018 
National 2017 

46.8 -0.03 64.9 4.08 

46.4 -0.03 63.8 4.04 

44.6 -0.03 59.1 NA 

Ranking 2019 
Ranking 2018 
Ranking 2017 

48 75 36 59 

50 100 41 64 

50 97 56 NA 

 

       
Key Stage 5 

 Solihull’s results have significantly improved since 2017.   

 We are currently ranked 56th against all LA’s in England, an increase of 59 from our 

rank of 115th three years ago. 

 Results are now in line with the England average, and those of our statistical 

neighbours. 

 
The results for all students attending a Solihull provision are below: 
 
Average point score per student – A Level 

 2017 2018 2019 
Solihull 28.90 29.57 32.64 

Stat Neighbours 31.44 32.62 33.44 

West Midlands 29.89 30.64 31.26 

England 32.39 33.33 33.77 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 41



 

 
 

Applied general results 

 Numbers of students studying applied general studies is small across the authority, 

with only 141 of the overall cohort of 429 taking these qualifications.  

 The average grade for students is a Merit or above which is in line with national 

information. 

 Numbers of entries has been small consistently over the past three years, and 

therefore it is difficult to make any robust conclusions on the basis of this indicator.  

Average point score per entry - Applied General Studies 

 2017 2018 2019 

Solihull 36.15 21.76 26.52 

Stat Neighbours 35.28 27.95 27.39 

West Midlands 35.84 29.37 28.97 

England 35.72 28.45 28.37 

 
3.2 Closing the attainment gap for vulnerable pupils 
 
A more detailed analysis of the following key areas is provided at Appendix 1, but the key 
points to note are summarised below. 
 
Disadvantaged pupils 
 

 The gap is closing in many measures for disadvantaged pupils.  

 The gap in phonics has reduced form 15% to 11%.  

 Key Stage 2 combined attainment gap has closed from 25 to 18.  

 Progress scores for reading and writing still show a bigger gap between 
disadvantaged and other pupils in Solihull, however this has improved in maths. 

 At Key stage 4 the gap is in line with our statistical neighbours and with the national 
gap.  

 
Free School Meals (FSM) 
 

 FSM pupils outcomes measures are in line with our statistical neighbours and national 
figures for most of the measures, however the gap between FSM pupils in Solihull and 
non FSM pupils in Solihull has widened in some cases. 

 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) 
 

 Students in Solihull schools with SEND (whether with an Education, Health and Care 
Plan or at SEN Support level) perform better in comparison to children without SEND 
in comparison to the national picture. This is across the board in  almost all measures. 

 
English as an Additional Language (EAL) 

Page 42



 

 
 

 

 EAL students do well across the board in comparison to non EAL students in Solihull 
and in comparison to our statistical neighbours and national figures.  

 
Gender 
 

 The gender gap is closing in almost all measures.  

 Progress at Key stage 2 in maths and progress 8 at key stage 4 are the only 
measures where the gap has widened marginally.  

 
4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 

them? 

4.1 The termly risk assessment of schools takes place to identify schools within which 
additional support  can be provided.    This can be due to a range of issues but is 
often due to their achievement data and the quality of education they are providing.  
They may be at risk of dropping into an Ofsted category at their next inspection, 
already be in a category, or through the work of the school improvement team have 
had risks identified.  

4.2 The new school improvement strategy which has been developed in partnership with 
Solihull’s Schools Strategic Accountability Board enables the school improvement 
team to work very closely with those schools identified as being at risk. The leadership 
team from the school will attend termly challenge and scrutiny panels to look at 
progress towards improved outcomes, holding leaders in the school to account. With a 
reduced school improvement service it is vital that the right schools receive the right 
support at the right time. This new strategy enables targeted work with those schools 
that need it. The school adviser will also act in a commissioning role, securing support 
for schools from the growing teaching partnership across the authority. This includes 
Solihull Teaching schools and the National Leaders of Education and Local Leaders of 
Education who work in Solihull and beyond.  

4.3 Borough wide English and maths fora have been established to work on subject 
specific issues and materials. The work of these groups cascades through the five 
school collaboratives into each school. 

4.4 Moderation at every key stage is strong across the borough. Local authority reading 
moderation has been introduced to ensure accuracy in teacher assessments. The 
pool of moderators has expanded, growing expertise across the authority, which is 
being used to further enhance performance. 

4.5 A reading improvement plan has been developed as this is emerging as an area 
requiring greater focus. In consultation with the teaching schools a support offer is 
being developed and this includes reading audits for schools in a risk category or for 
those who are due an inspection.  

4.6 Eight targeted nursery settings, with the largest number of children who did not attain 
the EYFSP good level of development in 2017/18, will be working with advisers this 
year to support them to narrow the inequality gap. 

4.7 The Solihull Schools Strategic Accountability Board (SSSAB) are working closely with 

Page 43



 

 
 

those schools where outcomes are below national averages. They are supporting 
helping schools to access support from high performing schools from across the 
authority.  

4.8 Headteachers and deputy headteachers are accessing leadership support through the 
SSSAB. All new headteachers are allocated an experienced mentor and an induction 
programme has been developed. 

4.9 Teaching schools have significantly developed the training and professional 
development they offer to schools and the take up of this has increased significantly 
over the last two years. Each collaborative has developed training and professional 
development and this can be accessed by all schools. 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 n/a 

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 How the proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of Council Plan priorities: 

Priority: Contribution: 

Securing inclusive economic growth.  Working to ensure that all children and young 
people in Solihull attend a good or better school. 

Planning & delivery for Solihull’s low 
carbon future (to include biodiversity 
implications). 

N/A 

Managing demand and expectation 
for public services.  

100% of children in Solihull get one of their 
preferred choices of schools.  

Developing our approach to services 
for adults and children with complex 
needs.  

Ensuring that disadvantaged children and young 
people can access the highest quality education in 
order to narrow the gap in outcomes. 

Making the best use of our people 
and physical assets. 

Support the delivery of high quality education to 
ensure the best outcomes for children and young 
people. 

6.2 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.2.1 n/a 

6.3 Financial implications: 

6.3.1 None identified within this report.   

Page 44



 

 
 

6.4 Legal implications: 

6.4.1 None identified within this document  

6.5 Risk implications: 

6.5.1 Delegated funding for local authorities to carry out school improvement has been 
reduced significantly. This has limited the support that can be delivered by the school 
improvement team.  Funding for school improvement was being devolved to teaching 
schools. This money could be accessed through a bid process. This funding however 
has currently ceased and there are currently no future bids for funding being 
considered by the department for education. 

The new Ofsted framework is significantly different from the previous inspection 
regime and schools need support to respond to the new expectations.  

6.6 Equality implications: 

6.6.1 Improving outcomes for all children and young people.  

7. List of appendices referred to 

7.1 Appendix 1 – analysis of vulnerable pupil cohorts. 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 Solihull School Improvement Strategy 2019 

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 None 

 

  

Page 45



 

 
 

Appendix 1 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 46



 

 
 

 

 

Page 47



 

 
 

 

 

Page 48


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Update on Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements
	6 Ofsted Action Plan: Inspection of Local Authority Children's Services
	Ofsted Action Plan March 2020 - Draft final for scutiny

	7 School Performance and Progress of Vulnerable Groups

